No. 46991-0-II

Court of Appeals, Div. II, of the State of Washington

Roff Arden and Bobbi Arden,

Appellants,

v.

Forsberg Umlauf, P.S., et al.,

Respondents.

Brief of Appellants

Kevin Hochhalter Attorney for Respondent

Cushman Law Offices, P.S. 924 Capitol Way South Olympia, WA 98501 360-534-9183 WSBA # 43124

1. Introduction

Forsberg & Umlauf attorneys John Hayes and William "Chris" Gibson were appointed by Hartford, Ardens' insurer, to defend Ardens under a reservation of rights. Forsberg had a long-standing attorney-client and business relationship with Hartford, but did not advise Ardens of that relationship. Forsberg's conflict of interest, which should have disqualified it from representing Ardens, caused Forsberg to breach its fiduciary duties of undeviating loyalty to Ardens. Forsberg failed to advise Ardens of potential and actual conflicts of interest, failed to confer with Ardens regarding settlement decisions, and ultimately placed the interests of Hartford above the interests of Ardens.

Ardens sued Forsberg for legal malpractice and breach of fiduciary duties. The trial court erroneously dismissed both claims on summary judgment. Ardens' evidence set forth specific facts supporting the elements of their claims. The undisputed facts show that Forsberg breached its fiduciary duties under the RPCs and under *Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 381, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986), entitling Ardens to disgorgement of all fees and costs received by Forsberg in connection with the representation. This Court should reverse the trial court's erroneous orders.

Ardens ask this Court to also recognize that insurance-assigned defense counsel stands in the position of a trustee over the insurance defense asset, which it must manage for the sole benefit of the insured client. Breach of trust entitles the client to additional equitable remedies.

2. Assignments of Error

- 1. The trial court erred in granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment on Ardens' legal malpractice claims where there were material issues of fact as to proximate cause and the availability of emotional distress damages.
- 2. The trial court erred in denying Ardens' motion for reconsideration of the first summary judgment order.
- 3. The trial court erred in granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment on Ardens' breach of fiduciary duty claims where Ardens' evidence set forth specific facts supporting each of the elements of their claims.
- 4. The trial court erred in denying Arden's motion for partial summary judgment of liability for breach of fiduciary duty where the undisputed evidence established Forsberg's breach of fiduciary duties.

Issues related to assignments of error

Whether insurance-appointed defense counsel stands in the position of a trustee over the insured's asset of insurance defense (assignments of error 3 and 4).

Whether Forsberg breached its fiduciary duties as attorneys and trustees by failing to advise Ardens of potential or actual conflicts of interest and failing to resolve those conflicts in favor of Ardens (assignments of error 3 and 4).

Whether Defendants breached their fiduciary duties as attorneys and trustees by placing the interests of Hartford above the interests of Ardens (assignments of error 3 and 4).

Whether there were material issues of fact on the element of proximate cause in Ardens' legal malpractice claim, precluding summary judgment dismissal (assignments of error 1 and 2).

Whether there were material issues of fact regarding the availability of emotional distress damages under *Schmidt v. Coogan*, 181 Wn.2d 661, 335 P.3d 424 (2014) (assignments of error 1 and 2).

3. Statement of the Case

3.1 Forsberg was appointed by Hartford to defend Ardens in *Duffy v. Arden*.

Roff and Bobbi Arden were sued by Anne and Wade Duffy for negligent or intentional property damage and emotional distress. CP 855, 904. Ardens tendered defense of the case to their insurer, Property and Casualty Insurance Company of Hartford. CP 856, 904. Hartford initially refused to defend. CP 904. Ardens hired attorney Jon E. Cushman, who pressured Hartford to accept the tender of defense. CP 855-56.

Hartford eventually accepted, appointing attorneys John P. Hayes and William C. "Chris" Gibson of the firm Forsberg & Umlauf, P.S. to defend Ardens. CP 130; 445-46. Hartford informed Forsberg & Umlauf that the defense would be under a reservation of rights. *See* CP 208, 318, 320. Although the reservation of rights letter was not issued until months later,

Hayes and Gibson recognized from the outset that a coverage dispute was likely to arise between Ardens and Hartford. CP 169, 208.

Hartford was a long-standing client of Forsberg & Umlauf in coverage disputes. Four partners, including Hayes, regularly represented Hartford as coverage counsel. CP 203-04. Neither Hayes nor Gibson ever informed Ardens of this pre-existing attorney-client relationship with Ardens' insurer. CP 227, 229, 430. Neither Hayes nor Gibson ever informed Ardens of any potential conflict of interest that may have arisen from Forsberg & Umlauf's relationship with and duties to Hartford. CP 430. Had Ardens known of the relationship, they would not have accepted Forsberg & Umlauf as defense counsel. CP 227, 229.

Gibson met with Ardens and Cushman within a few weeks of being appointed. CP 483-84; 546. During that meeting, Gibson explained to Ardens that his duties were solely to Ardens as clients. CP 173. Gibson told Ardens that he would attempt to get Hartford to pay the full amount of any liability, despite the reservation of rights. CP 173. Cushman would remain involved in the case as personal counsel and to prosecute Ardens' counterclaims. CP 166.

Ardens explained to Gibson the circumstances surrounding Duffys' claims. Duffys alleged that Roff Arden negligently or maliciously shot and killed two of Duffys' dogs. CP 445. Duffys lived over 200 yards away from Ardens in a rural area in Mason County. CP 536. Duffys habitually allowed their dogs to roam free. CP 536. On multiple occasions, Duffys' dogs came onto the Arden property and threatened and chased Ardens. CP 536-37.

Roff Arden suffers from post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) as a result of physical and mental abuse as a child. CP 573. He was re-traumatized in 2010 by a painful, unexpected eye procedure. CP 572-73. His PTSD manifests as acute anxiety attacks or bouts of depression, difficulty trusting others, and an intense fight-or-flight response. CP 574, 586. Arden also suffers from a fear of dogs as the result of a previous dog attack. CP 589-90.

Arden had explained his mental condition to Anne Duffy in 2009. CP 538, 540. Two of Duffys' dogs startled Arden while he was working with caustic chemicals outside his studio. CP 540, 599. Arden warned Anne Duffy that the dogs could not be around the studio. CP 540, 599. Nevertheless, Duffys continued to allow their dogs to wander free and to menace Ardens on Ardens' property. See CP 538-39, 599. Arden admitted to Gibson that he shot Duffys' yellow lab in the midst of a PTSD-induced fight-or-flight response when two of Duffys' dogs chased Ardens halfway down their driveway. CP 585-86. A police report claimed that Arden admitted to having shot another dog 15 months earlier, but Arden maintained he did not. CP 585. The report, which Gibson reviewed, recommended felony criminal charges against Roff Arden. CP 484, 491.

Coming out of the meeting with Gibson, Ardens understood that Gibson would evaluate Hartford's exposure in the case and then get back in touch with Ardens. CP 546. Gibson had informed Ardens that it was his "practice," generally, to try to get the insurer to pay the full amount even in a reservation-of-rights case. CP 173. Neither Gibson nor Hayes ever contacted Ardens to discuss a specific litigation or settlement strategy. CP 574, 582.

3.2 Forsberg followed Hartford's settlement instructions despite opposition from Ardens.

On January 18, 2013, one month after this initial meeting, Duffys' attorney, Adam Karp, sent Gibson and Cushman a settlement demand for \$55,000, which was set to expire on January 28. CP 255. After consulting with Ardens, Cushman informed Gibson that Ardens wanted to accept the offer so long as Hartford paid the settlement. CP 256, 617. Through Cushman, Ardens instructed Gibson to communicate their position to Hartford as a demand that Hartford fund the settlement. CP 256. Hayes claims he did so by phone, CP 214, but the written evidence shows only that when Gibson notified Hartford of the Duffys' offer, he blandly asked, "Please get back to me and Mr. Cushman very soon as to whether Hartford will fund a response to the offer accepting it." CP 328. Cushman immediately followed with an email to Hartford demanding that Hartford fund the settlement. CP 329. Gibson admits he did not communicate Ardens' demand to Hartford. CP 188.

Hayes suggested that Gibson ask Karp for an extension of the deadline, to give Hayes and Gibson time to receive Duffys' interrogatory responses and evaluate the damage claims. CP 189-90. Neither Hayes nor Gibson consulted with Ardens or Cushman regarding the extension. CP 189, 208. Hayes only informed Cushman after the extension had already been requested. CP 331. Cushman immediately expressed displeasure, asking if Hartford was refusing Ardens' demand to fund the settlement. CP 332. Hartford responded that it needed further information to evaluate the case

before funding a settlement. CP 333. Cushman pressured Hartford to fund the settlement or to defend without any reservation of rights. CP 336, 344. Karp extended the deadline on the offer to March 4 at 5 p.m. CP 341.

After receiving Duffys' discovery responses, Hayes and Gibson prepared a case analysis for Hartford. CP 253. They recommended attempting to settle the case at up to \$35,000. CP 468-69. Cushman reviewed the report before it was sent to Hartford, recommending insertion of "negligence" throughout when describing Duffys' claims. CP 474. Although Cushman expressed confidence in being able to get the case settled at \$35,000, he had previously noted that his review was "solely from a coverage perspective, not from case valuation perspective." CP 475.

On March 4 at 6:29pm, Hartford notified Cushman that it was letting the Duffys' settlement offer expire. CP 262. The next morning, Hayes notified Cushman that Hartford had given him settlement authority up to \$35,000 and that he was going to start with a counteroffer of \$18,000. CP 263. Eight minutes later, Gibson sent an email to Karp referencing a voice message he had already left at Karp's office that morning regarding "a settlement offer from the Ardens funded by Hartford." CP 878. Neither Hayes nor Gibson had consulted with Ardens or sought their approval of the counteroffer. CP 183, 210.

Karp responded to the \$18,000 counteroffer on March 10, stating, "My clients reject the counteroffer as wholly inadequate and extend no new offer." CP 719. Cushman contacted Karp and convinced him to make a "last best offer" on behalf of Duffys. CP 760. Karp contacted Cushman and

Gibson on March 12 with an offer at \$40,000, set to expire March 14 at 5 p.m., noting, "I have no more room to move." CP 882. Cushman, on behalf of Ardens, again demanded that Hartford fund the settlement. CP 883.

On March 14 at 10:47 a.m., Hartford notified Cushman and Hayes that it would not fund the settlement at \$40,000 and that it intended to make a counteroffer at \$25,000. CP 767. Cushman objected, warning Hartford and Hayes that their proposed course was bad faith. CP 770. By 11:34 a.m., Hayes had made Hartford's counteroffer. CP 267. Neither Hayes nor Gibson had consulted with Ardens or sought their approval before making the counteroffer. CP 198, 219. Neither Hayes nor Gibson had invited Ardens to contribute toward bridging the \$5,000 gap between Hartford's funding and the Duffy's offer. CP 574-75.

Duffys rejected the \$25,000 counteroffer and refused to negotiate further. CP 890. Karp later notified Hayes and Gibson that Duffys would not participate in any further negotiation unless Ardens offered over \$55,000. CP 221. On March 19, Roff Arden learned that felony charges had been filed against him. *See* CP 798-99, 892.

Throughout the failed settlement process, Ardens felt that they were not being properly represented. CP 228. Ardens felt Gibson was not keeping them informed of developments. CP 655. Ardens felt Hayes and Gibson never explained any plan or strategy behind their settlement decisions. CP 574. Ardens felt Hayes and Gibson responded to and obeyed Hartford but never responded to Ardens. CP 582. Ardens felt Hayes and Gibson

ignored Roff Arden's mental infirmities and potential criminal jeopardy. CP 574, 582. Ardens felt Hayes and Gibson represented Hartford, not Ardens. CP 574.

Despite Ardens' desire for a quick settlement in hopes of avoiding criminal charges and minimizing the mental health impacts of the litigation, see CP 857, Hayes and Gibson followed Hartford's deliberate, low-ball strategy for settlement, see CP 111, 143, 152, 219. Despite Gibson's understanding that the insured client has the right to participate in settlement negotiations in a reservation-of-rights defense, CP 171-72, Gibson never involved Ardens in any settlement-related decisions, CP 865. Despite Hayes' understanding that he owed a duty of undivided loyalty to Ardens, CP 208, Hayes obediently carried out Hartford's instructions over Ardens' objections, CP 219.

Ardens sued Hartford for bad faith, later adding claims of legal malpractice and breach of fiduciary duties against Forsberg & Umlauf, Hayes, and Gibson. RP 19; Supp. RP 2. A global mediation was held, at which Ardens, Duffys, and Hartford settled the claims between them for \$75,000 paid by Hartford to Duffys. RP 19. Only Ardens' claims against Forsberg & Umlauf, Hayes, and Gibson remained. RP 19.

3.3 The trial court dismissed Ardens' claims on summary judgment.

After a contentious discovery process, the parties made crossmotions for summary judgment on the legal malpractice claims. Defendants argued that Ardens could not produce evidence to support any of the elements of duty, breach, proximate cause, or injury and damages. CP 825. Ardens' motion, which also served as their response to Defendants' motion, sought partial summary judgment of liability for legal malpractice. CP 396, 415. Ardens argued that Defendants committed malpractice by failing to communicate with and advise Ardens, failing to follow Ardens' direction, and placing the interests of Hartford above Ardens' interests. CP 404.

The trial court denied Ardens' motion and granted Defendants' motion, dismissing Ardens' legal malpractice claim but leaving Ardens' breach of fiduciary duty claim for later determination. CP 249-50; Supp. RP 2-3, 6.¹ The court held that it was clear that there was an attorney-client relationship between Ardens and Defendants giving rise to duties owed by Defendants to Ardens. Supp. RP 3-4. The court held that there were disputes of fact as to whether Ardens and Hartford's positions were in conflict and whether Defendants' conduct breached their duties to Ardens. *Id.* at 4. Nevertheless, the court held that any breach did not cause Roff Arden to be charged with a crime and that attorney fees and emotional distress damages were not recoverable in a legal malpractice claim. *Id.* at 5-6.

Ardens made a motion for reconsideration, arguing that there were material issues of fact as to causation of the criminal charges and the

Brief of Appellants - 10

.

The verbatim report of proceedings was supplemented by order of the commissioner on motion of the parties to include the October 1, 2014, oral ruling of the trial court. The supplemental transcript is referred to herein as "Supp. RP," while the originally filed report of proceedings is referred to as "RP."

availability of emotional distress damages. CP 78. The trial court denied the motion. RP 94; CP 19-20.

The parties made a second set of cross-motions for summary judgment to address the breach of fiduciary duty claim. Ardens argued that Defendants had breached their duty of loyalty to Ardens "by taking on a representation from which they were disqualified by conflicts of interest; failing to communicate with Ardens; failing to keep Ardens apprised of all activity involving settlement; failing to consider Ardens' mental helath condition and criminal jeopardy; and placing the interests of the insurer above the interests of Ardens, their clients." CP 236-37. Ardens argued that the fiduciary relationship between insurance defense counsel and the insured client is impressed with a trust, entitling Ardens to equitable remedies such as disgorgement of fees for Defendants' breach of trust. CP 241-43.

Defendants argued that there was no conflict of interest and therefore no breach of fiduciary duty. CP 89. Defendants argued that Ardens could not establish proximate cause of any injury and that Ardens were not entitled to disgorgement or other remedies. CP 93, 96.

The trial court denied Ardens' motion and dismissed the remainder of Ardens' claims. RP 94. The court ruled that there was no disqualifying conflict of interest in Defendants taking on the representation, and therefore no breach of fiduciary duty. RP 84-85. The court commented that Ardens' trust theory was "interesting and somewhat compelling," but the court did not find it supported by precedent. RP 94. The decision disposed of all of Ardens' claims. CP 24. Ardens appealed. CP 5.

4. Summary of Argument

The trial court erred in denying Ardens' motion for partial summary judgment on Forsberg's liability for breach of fiduciary duties and in dismissing Ardens' claims. Part 5.2 outlines the fiduciary duties Forsberg owed to Ardens as clients: the ordinary duties owed by an attorney to a client, enhanced duties under *Tank*, and the duties of a trustee over the insurance defense asset. Part 5.3 demonstrates that Forsberg breached those duties by failing to disclose and resolve conflicts of interest in favor of Ardens and by placing the interests of Hartford above the interests of Ardens, the insured clients. Part 5.4 explains how the remedy of disgorgement of fees for breach of fiduciary duties and other equitable remedies for breach of trust naturally follow.

Ardens presented sufficient evidence to the trial court to establish Forsberg's duties and breach. This Court should reverse the trial court's second summary judgment order, grant summary judgment in favor of Ardens on the issues of duty and breach, and remand to the trial court for a determination of damages.

The trial court also erred in granting summary judgment dismissal of Ardens' legal malpractice claim. Part 5.5 demonstrates that there were material issues of fact precluding summary judgment on the legal malpractice claim. This Court should reverse the trial court's first summary judgment order and remand for further proceedings.

5. Argument

5.1 Summary judgment rulings are reviewed de novo.

This Court reviews summary judgment orders *de novo. Schmitt v.*Langenour, 162 Wn. App. 397, 404, 256 P.3d 1235 (2011). The Court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc.,

152 Wn.2d 828, 832, 100 P.3d 791 (2004). Summary judgment is only proper where there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). In determining the existence of an issue of material fact, the court views all facts and inferences in favor of the nonmoving party. Michael v. Mosquera-Lacy, 165 Wn.2d 595, 601, 200 P.3d 695 (2009). "[A] court must deny summary judgment when a party raises a material factual dispute." Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co., 150 Wn.2d 478, 485-86, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003).

5.2 Forsberg owed fiduciary duties of undeviating loyalty to Ardens.

It is undisputed that Hayes, Gibson, and Forsberg & Umlauf (collectively, "Forsberg") had an attorney-client relationship with Ardens. Forsberg was assigned to represent Ardens in the *Duffy* matter under a reservation of rights. By virtue of the appointment as insurance defense counsel under a reservation of rights, Forsberg owed some specific, fiduciary duties to Ardens. First, Forsberg owed the ordinary fiduciary duties of any attorney to a client. Second, Forsberg owed enhanced *Tank* duties because of Hartford's reservation of rights. Third, Forsberg owed duties of a trustee over Ardens' insurance defense asset.

5.2.1 Forsberg owed Ardens the fiduciary duties ordinarily owed by an attorney to a client.

"[T]he attorney-client relationship is a fiduciary one as a matter of law and thus the attorney owes the highest duty to the client." *Versuslaw Inc. v. Stoel Rives, LLP*, 127 Wn. App. 309, 333, 111 P.3d 866 (2005). An attorney's fiduciary duties are outlined in the Rules of Professional Conduct. *See Cotton v. Kronenberg*, 111 Wn. App. 258, 265-66, 44 P.3d 878 (2002) (holding the RPCs may be considered in determining whether an attorney breached fiduciary duties). An attorney owes undeviating loyalty to a client.

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