NO. 46991-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

ROFF ARDEN and BOBBI ARDEN, adult husband and wife,

Appellants.

V.

FORSBERG & UMLAUF, P.S., a Washington State professional services corporation; JOHN HAYES and "JANE DOE" HAYES, adult Washington State residents including any marital community; WILLIAM "CHRIS" GIBSON and "JANE DOE" GIBSON, adult Washington State residents including any marital community; and DOE DEFENDANTS I through V,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Sam B. Franklin, WSBA No. 1903 Pamela J. DeVet, WSBA No. 32882 Of Attorneys for Respondents Forsberg & Umlauf, P.S., Hayes and Gibson

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In dismissing the Ardens' claims on summary judgment, and denying reconsideration, the trial court did not err. The rulings below should be affirmed.

A lawyer retained to defend an insured person has no obligation to advocate coverage issues between insured and insurer. Nor is that lawyer a trustee of the funds used for defense and indemnity. Likewise, a lawyer retained to defend a client in a civil suit is not required to prevent the prosecutor from charging the client with a crime. Therefore, dismissal can be affirmed on the element of duty.

Breach is determined as a matter of law – always when breach of fiduciary duty is at issue, and when reasonable minds could reach but one 5768872.doc

concurrent conflict of interest and multiple violations of duties of lawyers — none of which is supported by the record. They presented no evidence that Attorneys' judgment decisions were outside the range of those that a reasonable and prudent lawyer would make in this jurisdiction. On the other hand, there is ample evidence to support a determination, as a matter of law, that Attorneys did not breach their duty of care or fiduciary duty to the Ardens. Dismissal can be affirmed on the element of breach.

This court can determine as a matter of law that no legal causation exists. Being charged with a crime is not a compensable injury, and tort law is not designed to permit a plaintiff to foist the consequences of his own bad acts onto another. The record also supports a ruling as a matter of law that Attorneys' conduct was not the cause in fact of the Ardens' claimed harm. The evidence is undisputed that Mr. Arden was charged with a crime because he committed the acts at issue, and the case did not settle during Attorneys' representation because Hartford would not fund the demands. The Ardens failed to produce any evidence that they would have fared better in *Duffy v. Arden* but for Attorneys' claimed negligence. This court can affirm dismissal on the element of proximate cause.

Finally, as a matter of law, the Ardens are not entitled to the damages they seek or to disgorgement. The summary judgment rulings

may be affirmed on the element of damages, and dismissal should stand.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The trial court properly dismissed the Ardens' claims on summary judgment.

Summary judgment is proper where the record before the court shows there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). The defendant is entitled to summary judgment if (1) the defendant shows the absence of evidence to support the plaintiff's case; and (2) the plaintiff fails to come forward with evidence creating a genuine issue of material fact on an essential element of the plaintiff's case. Clark Cty. Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C., 180 Wn. App. 689, 699, 324 P.3d 743 (2014). Review of a summary judgment ruling is de novo. *Id.* at 698. On the other hand, whether to award attorneys' fees and disgorgement of fees is left entirely to the sound discretion of the trial court. Eriks v. Denver, 118 Wn. 2d 451, 465, 824 P.2d 1207 (1992); Cotton v. Kronenberg, 111 Wn. App. 258, 275, 44 P.3d 878 (2002); Kelly v. Foster, 62 Wn. App. 150, 156, 813 P.2d 598 (1991). When reviewing a ruling on summary judgment, this court does not consider issues the appellant did not raise below, RAP 9.12, but can affirm the trial court's ruling for any reason supported by the record. RAP 2.5(a); Lynn v. Labor Ready, Inc., 136 Wn. App. 295, 305, 151 P.3d 201, 207 (2006), as amended (2007).

A plaintiff alleging a breach of fiduciary duty "must prove (1) existence of a duty owed, (2) breach of that duty, (3) resulting injury, and (4) that the claimed breach proximately caused the injury." Micro Enhancement Int'l, Inc. v. Coopers & Lybrand, LLP, 110 Wn.App. 412, 433-34, 40 P.3d 1206 (2002). Similarly, a plaintiff alleging legal malpractice must prove duty, breach, causation, and damages. Hizey v. Carpenter, 119 Wn.2d 251, 260-61, 830 P.2d 646 (1992). On summary judgment, if the party with the burden of proof at trial fails to come forward with evidence to support any one element, the claim must be dismissed. Young v. Key Pharms., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). See also LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Grp., LLC, 181 Wn. 2d 117, 126, 330 P.3d 190, 195 (2014) (summary judgment dismissal of entire legal malpractice claim affirmed where plaintiff could not show compensable damages); Clark Cty. Fire Dist. No. 5, 180 Wn. App. at 699 (summary judgment affirmed as to multiple allegations of breach of the attorney duty of care). Because both causes of action require proof of duty, breach, causation, and damages, arguments on each element are addressed together here.

Like the trial court, the Court of Appeals considers only admissible evidence in reviewing summary judgment. CR 56(e); *Lynn*, 136 Wn. App. at 306. A party cannot rely on inadmissible hearsay in response to a 5768872.doc

summary judgment motion. *Lynn*, 136 Wn. App. at 309. Nor can a party rely on speculation to show material factual issues; instead, the nonmoving party must "set forth specific facts that sufficiently ... disclose that a genuine issue as to material fact exists." CR 56(e); *Seven Gables Corp. v. MGM/UA Entm't Co.*, 106 Wn.2d 1, 13, 721 P.2d 1 (1986).

B. This court may affirm summary judgment dismissal of the legal malpractice claim as to the duty of care, which is a question of law for the court.

Under *Hizey*, a legal malpractice plaintiff must prove the existence of an attorney-client relationship giving rise to a duty of care. 119 Wn. 2d at 260. Although the Ardens did not move for summary judgment on the question of duty of care, Attorneys did. Attorneys acknowledge an attorney-client relationship existed from November 2012 to April 2013. However, according to the law and this record, the scope of Attorneys' representation did not include advocating the Ardens' coverage position against Hartford or preventing Mr. Arden from being charged.

"The essence of an attorney-client relationship is whether the attorneys' advice or assistance is sought and received on legal matters." *Bohn v. Cody*, 119 Wn. 2d 357, 363, 832 P.2d 71 (1992). *See also* RPC 1.2(c). The record is clear that the Ardens did not seek or receive advice from Attorneys regarding insurance coverage or criminal charges. They knew Attorneys were retained to defend them in *Duffy v. Arden*, and

that Mr. Cushman would represent them as to other matters. They also knew Attorneys could not control the prosecutor's actions.

The existence of an attorney-client relationship "turns largely on the client's subjective belief that it exists," but that belief must be "reasonably formed based on the attending circumstances, including the attorneys' words or actions." *Bohn*, 119 Wn. 2d at 363. Here, the Ardens did **not** believe Attorneys represented them as to coverage or criminal matters. Because the record shows the Ardens' reasonable subjective belief that Attorneys did not represent them as to coverage or criminal matters, the Attorneys' duty of care did not extend to advocating coverage issues against Hartford, and it did not extend to preventing Mr. Arden from being charged with a crime. This court may affirm dismissal of the legal malpractice claim on the element of duty. RAP 2.5(a).

C. An attorney appointed to defend an insured client is not a trustee subject to a trustee's duties and remedies.

The Ardens endorse a novel theory that insurance-assigned defense counsel is the trustee of the "defense asset." They cite no authority for the proposition, and trust law certainly does not fit in this context:

Express trusts are [t]hose trusts which are created by contract of the parties and intentionally. ... An express trust is one created by the act of the parties; and, where a person has, or accepts, possession of money, promissory notes, or other personal property with the express or implied understanding that he is not to hold it as his

own absolute property, but to hold and apply it for certain specified purposes, an express trust exists.

Hartford Fire Ins. Co. v. Columbia State Bank, 183 Wn. App. 599, 334 P.3d 87 (2014) (emphasis added, citations omitted) (no trust where writing did not require general contractor to hold payments for benefit of subcontractors). Accord, Restatement (Second) of Trusts § 29 (1959) ("The owner of property can create a trust of the property by transferring it to another person in trust although there is no consideration other than the transfer of the property"). "A claim seeking damages against an attorney for breach of fiduciary duty is legal, not equitable." Behnke v. Ahrens, 172 Wn. App. 281, 296, 294 P.3d 729 (2012).

No express trust existed here. The Ardens produce no proof of a contract or intent to act as trustee. The Hartford policy obligated it to defend, but not to create a trust. Attorneys did not hold or manage any asset of the Ardens. No one believed or understood Hartford sent Attorneys money belonging to the Ardens. Hartford paid Attorneys for the Ardens' defense for services rendered; Hartford transferred the payments as Attorneys' absolute property. The Ardens' arguments based on "breach of trust" case law do not withstand scrutiny.

D. Summary judgment of dismissal of both claims may be affirmed on the element of breach.

As set forth above, the causes of action urged here both require a

showing of breach. In the trial court, the parties moved for summary judgment on the issue of breach. The Ardens did not assign error to the trial court's denial of their motion on breach of the standard of care, and that decision need not be reviewed. RAP 10.3(g).

An attorney has a duty to exercise "the degree of care, skill, diligence, and knowledge commonly possessed and exercised by a reasonable, careful, and prudent lawyer" in Washington. Hizey, 119 Wn. 2d at 261. Under the attorney judgment rule, "an attorney cannot be liable for making an allegedly erroneous decision involving honest, good faith judgment if (1) that decision was within the range of reasonable alternatives from the perspective of a reasonable, careful, and prudent attorney in Washington; and (2) in making that judgment decision, the attorney exercised reasonable care." Clark Cty. Fire Dist. No. 5, 180 Wn. App. At 704. To avoid summary judgment, the plaintiff must (a) show with expert testimony the attorney's exercise of judgment was not within the range of reasonable choices from the perspective of a reasonable, careful, and prudent attorney in Washington; or (b) show the attorney was negligent in arriving at that decision. *Id.* at 706. The trial court may determine whether an attorney violated the duty of care on summary judgment where reasonable minds could not differ. *Id.* at 705, 712-15.

An attorney also has a fiduciary duty to his client. Kelly, 62 Wn.

App. at 155. The Rules of Professional conduct may be considered to determine whether an attorney is in breach. *Cotton*, 111 Wn. App. at 266. *See also Tank v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co.*, 105 Wn. 2d 381, 388-89, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986). The question of whether an attorney has breached his fiduciary duty is a question of law. *Eriks*, 118 Wn. 2d at 457-58.

Because the Ardens allege that certain conduct breached the standard of care or the fiduciary duty, or both, Attorneys address the allegations together below. This court may affirm dismissal on the basis that, as a matter of law, Attorneys did not violate **any** duty to the Ardens.

1. Treatises and seminar materials are not authority and were not part of the record below.

The Ardens are required to present "citations to legal authority" in support of their arguments. RAP 10.3(a)(6). In their opening brief, the Ardens allege many of Attorneys' acts are breaches of their fiduciary duty, but they cite no legal authority to support their position. They rely instead upon treatises and continuing education materials by William T. Barker and Charles Silver, who are not listed as attorneys licensed in the State of Washington. This is not the "legal authority" contemplated by RAP 10.3(a)(6), and the court need not consider it. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn. 2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

For two additional reasons, this court should disregard these

statements. First, on review of a summary judgment order, this court considers only "evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court." RAP 9.12. None of these materials were before the trial court. Second, "[w]hen a trial court is presented with a question of law, the court may properly disregard expert affidavits that contain conclusions of law." *Eriks*, 118 Wn. 2d at 458. *Accord Cotton*, 111 Wn. App. at 267 (properly excluding legal conclusions in a John Strait declaration). These sources are not sworn testimony, and they contain multiple conclusions of law about violations of fiduciary duty. As such, they are better viewed as unsworn, conclusory testimony by undisclosed experts—and disregarded.

2. Attorneys did not violate any duty in accepting the representation.

The Ardens allege Attorneys could not accept the representation without disclosing conflicts of interest and obtaining informed consent under RPC 1.7. However, the record shows as a matter of law that Attorneys did not violate the conflict rules because a "concurrent conflict of interest" never arose. "A concurrent conflict of interest exists if ... there is significant risk that the representation of [a] client will be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client, a former client, or a third person, or by a personal interst of the lawyer." RPC 1.7(a)(2).

The Ardens first allege Attorneys were required to disclose that

Hartford was Attorneys' client under RPC 1.7(a)(2). However, the record contains no evidence that Hartford was a current client when Attorneys began representing the Ardens. The absence of evidence alone defeats this claim of breach. Further, although the Ardens cite Mr. Hayes as testifying that Attorneys "regularly serve[] as coverage counsel for the Hartford," App. Br. at 25, that was not his testimony. CP 203-04. The Ardens also do not contend that Attorneys represented Hartford as to coverage as against the Ardens or on a similar coverage issue in any other case.

Next, the Ardens allege Attorneys violated a duty by failing to disclose potential conflicts between Hartford and the Ardens, as *Tank* requires. However, the undisputed evidence is that Mr. Gibson discussed this very issue at his first meeting with them. CP 169. Moreover, the Ardens had personal counsel handling an **existing** coverage dispute before Attorneys were retained. They knew about their conflict with Hartford.

Finally, the Ardens allege Attorneys failed to disclose their business relationship with Hartford, including acting as panel counsel, in violation of RPC 1.7(a)(2). They improperly raise this issue for the first time on appeal. When reviewing summary judgment orders, this court does not consider issues not called to the attention of the trial court. RAP 9.12. RAP 2.5(a) (appellate court need not consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal), *LK Operating*, 181 Wn. 2d at 126

(same). The Ardens did not ask either attorney about this in depositions, so the record is silent about whether they made the disclosure at issue. The record does reveal that Mr. Cushman, who undisputedly spoke with the Ardens' full authority, knew and approved Hartford's plan to retain panel counsel. CP 320. He told the Ardens that Hartford was appointing defense counsel. CP 601. The Ardens most likely knew the relationship existed. As the issue was not raised below, Attorneys had no opportunity to obtain evidence to rebut it. The court should not consider it.

Furthermore, as a matter of law no concurrent conflict of interest existed, because there is no evidence of a "significant risk" that representation of the Ardens would be "materially limited" by Attorneys' responsibilities to Hartford or a personal interest of any of the Attorneys, a showing required under RPC 1.7(a)(2). Instead, there was significant proof that Attorneys' conduct – far from being "materially limited" – in fact met the standard of care in every way. CP 362-69; CP 508-26.

3. Attorneys did not violate any duty throughout the representation.

The Ardens allege many errors of attorney judgment in the course of the litigation. However, they did not produce expert testimony that Attorneys' acts fell outside the reasonable alternatives for lawyers complying with the standard of care. For that reason alone, summary

judgment on the issue of breach of the standard of care would have been proper. *Clark Cty. Fire Dist. No. 5*, 180 Wn. App. At 706.

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